
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 
 

  
 
 
 

Meeting: Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Wednesday, 12 December 2018 at 1.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room - County Hall 

Contact: Euan Walters (Tel: 0116 3052583) 

Email: euan.walters@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC (Chairman) 

 
Cllr. Lee Breckon, JP 

Mr Keith Culverwell 
Cllr. Ratilal Govind 

Cllr. Malise Graham 
Ms Mehrunnisa Lalani 

Cllr. Kevin J. Loydall 
Cllr. Abdul Osman 

 

Cllr. Trevor Pendleton 
Cllr. Janice Richards 
Cllr. Michael Rickman 
Cllr. Manjula Sood, MBE 
Cllr. Deborah Taylor 
Cllr. Alan Walters 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 3 October 
2018.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

2.  
  

Public Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 

 
5.  

  
Deputy PCC Update.  
 

 
 

(Pages 11 - 12) 

6.  
  

Performance Update - Quarter 2.  
 

 
 

(Pages 13 - 14) 

7.  
  

Alcohol and Drugs.  
 

 
 

(Pages 15 - 16) 

8.  
  

Complaints against Police Officers - new 
procedures.  
 

 
 

(Pages 17 - 18) 

9.  
  

Complaints against the Police and Crime 
Commissioner.  
 

 
 

(Pages 19 - 20) 

10.  
  

National Association of Police, Fire and Crime 
Panels.  
 

 
 

(Pages 21 - 28) 

11.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Panel is scheduled to take place on 1 
February 2019 at 10:00am. 
 
 

 

12.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



 

  

 
Minutes of a meeting of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel 
held at County Hall, Glenfield on Wednesday, 3 October 2018.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC (in the Chair) 
 

Cllr. Lee Breckon, JP 
Mr Keith Culverwell 
Cllr. Ratilal Govind 
Ms Mehrunnisa Lalani 
 

Cllr. Abdul Osman 
Cllr. Michael Rickman 
Cllr. Deborah Taylor 
 

 
Apologies 
 
Cllr. Malise Graham, Cllr. Kevin J. Loydall, Cllr. Trevor Pendleton, Cllr. Janice Richards, 
Cllr. Manjula Sood, MBE and Cllr. Alan Walters 
 
In attendance 
 
Lord Willy Bach – Police and Crime Commissioner 
Deputy Chief Constable Rob Nixon – Leicestershire Police  
Paul Hindson – Chief Executive, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Angela Perry – Executive Director, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Simon Down – Commissioning Manager, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Lynne Woodward, Head of Equality and Human Rights, Leicestershire Police 
Brahmpreet Gulati, Youth Commissioner 
 
 

23. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 25 July 2018 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed, subject to amendment to minute no. 18(viii) so that the first sentence states:  
“The membership of the Youth Commission did not include people who had been 
involved with criminal activity.” 
 

24. Public Question Time.  
 
There were no questions submitted. 
 

25. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. However, the Chairman announced that 
the Home Office were conducting a review into the effectiveness of Police and Crime 
Panels and the Chairman was of the view that the Panel should fully engage with the 
review.  A message had been sent to the Home Office offering to provide feedback to the 
Home Office regarding the work of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and 
Crime Panel. 
 
 
 
 
 

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

26. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mr. K. Culverwell declared a personal interest in respect of all substantive items as he 
had two close relatives that worked for Leicestershire Police. 
 
Ms. M. Lalani declared a personal interest in respect of all substantive items as she had a 
close relative that was a member of the Police Cadets. 
 
 

27. Performance Report - Quarter 1.  
 
The Police and Crime Panel considered a report of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
which presented the Quarter 1 2018/19 performance report. A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda Item 5’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) In response to a question from the Chairman regarding the levels of confidence the 

public had in reporting crime, the PCC stated that there was no formal intelligence 
on the issue however on the whole he believed more people were prepared to come 
forward to report crimes. The PCC emphasised that the public were encouraged to 
report all crimes. The PCC said that there was some anecdotal evidence that some 
people did not report crimes due to issues with the 101 telephone service. 
  

(ii) A member also raised concerns regarding the 101 and 999 telephone services 
particularly relating to the care and assurance shown by the call handlers to those 
people calling in. In response it was acknowledged that public expectations of the 
telephone services were high and these expectations needed to be managed. The 
service offer to the public via the 101 and 999 telephone services was being 
reviewed and it was hoped that in future the issues the callers were raising could be 
resolved as early as possible in the process. However, resources were finite and 
any funding given to 101 and 999 telephone call handling would have to be taken 
from other areas of policing. 
 

(iii) In response to queries from a member regarding how the Force would cope with the 
increasing crime and maintain effective policing in the future, the PCC provided 
reassurance that he was monitoring the situation and in his view new approaches 
were required to cope with the increasing demand. Members were reminded that in 
the report from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 
Services published in March 2018 Leicestershire Police had been rated as ‘Good’ in 
all areas that the force had been assessed against and no areas had been identified 
for improvement  
 

(iv) With regard to the increase in rapes being recorded the PCC stated that he believed 
this was partly due to an increased confidence on the part of victims to report. There 
were sometimes difficulties caused by victims not taking part in a medical 
examination or supporting the prosecution all the way to Court which hindered the 
prospects of conviction. The PCC clarified that the figures for rape by strangers 
were very low and in most of those cases the perpetrator was caught. Most rapes 
were committed in a domestic situation by a person known to the victim.  

4



 
 

 

 
(v) Clarification was given with regards to paragraph 10c of the report and it was 

explained that the Integrated Offender Management team were managing 328 
prolific offenders, a figure which had gone up from 316 the previous year.  

 
(vi) It was explained that whilst tackling drug trafficking across county lines was a 

priority it did not fit into one of the specific categories of crime that the Home Office 
recorded and therefore was not referred to under the Headlines – Recorded Crime 
section of the report.  

 
(vii) In response to a question about media coverage of knife crime in other parts of the 

region reassurance was given that Leicestershire Police had appeared on television 
and radio to disseminate messages about knife crime, and the Force had been 
involved in the national knife crime campaign involving the boxer Anthony Joshua. 
Leicestershire Police and the OPCC had recently submitted a bid for funding from 
the government’s early intervention fund in relation to knife and violent crime. The 
outcome of the bid was not known and was not expected to be announced for 
several weeks. 

 
(viii) The PCC praised the work of the Sexual Assault Referral Centre, and in response 

to a request agreed to provide Panel members with copies of the Domestic and 
Sexual Violence and Abuse Strategy.   

 
(ix) Members commended Leicestershire Police for their work on the digital hub and 

their success in reducing the turnaround times for digital examinations. 
 
(x) The PCC shared Panel Members’ concerns about the approach of large stores to 

shoplifting and the stores’ failure to heed advice given by the Police. 
 
(xi) Reassurance was given that Leicestershire Police were preparing for an increase in 

Brexit related hate crime and the PCC was leading on the issue nationally along 
with two other PCCs. There were no extra resources being allocated to the issue 
and it was hoped that the impact on neighbourhood policing would be kept to a 
minimum. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

28. Project Darwin.  
 
The Panel received a presentation from the Chief Executive of the OPCC regarding 
Project Darwin and Blueprint 2025. A copy of the presentation slides is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
Arising from the presentation the following points were noted: 
 
(i) Whereas with the previous model of policing in Leicestershire under Project Edison 

the police force was centralised, under Darwin a devolved model would be used 
and there would be more resources invested into neighbourhood policing. It was 
hoped that Darwin would see the force respond more quickly to incidents and the 
Priority Response Teams would be based in the Neighbourhood hubs to assist this. 

5



 
 

 

Under Darwin the Force structure was not rigid and going forward the systems and 
procedures would be able to evolve to meet changing demands.  

 
(ii) Reassurance was given that under Darwin Leicestershire Police would also be able 

to carry out crime prevention work, and the Neighbourhood Investigation Units 
would play an important role in this. Dedicated Inspectors would be allocated to 
custody suites to provide local knowledge.  

 
(iii) Discussion took place regarding the need to enable the public to be able to report 

crimes without interacting directly with police staff in order to be more cost effective. 
The methods under consideration were online forms, mobile phone applications or 
even placing electronic devices in the reception areas of police stations for the 
public to use to report a crime in a similar manner to self-service checkouts at 
supermarkets. Panel members emphasised that if this approach was to be followed 
then good communication with the public would need to take place to make it clear 
what kind of service they should expect. In response reassurance was given that 
public consultation would take place and Leicestershire Police were aware that 
further work needed to be conducted in this area. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the presentation be noted. 
 

29. Hate Crime  
 
The Police and Crime Panel considered a report of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
which provided an update on the Force’s response to Hate Crime in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland and the plans which were in place for National Hate Crime 
Awareness week. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 7’, is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) Whilst hate crime in Leicestershire occurred fairly evenly across the various 

categories, the categories of faith and race had the highest figures. The OPCC 
agreed to forward to the Panel further details on hate crime statistics with the 
figures broken down into gender and age. The median age of hate crime offenders 
was 14 and care had to be taken not to criminalise people at such a young age. 
Panel members were of the view that the problem needed to be tackled at an early 
age such as through youth clubs. It was noted that the PCC Grant did fund activity 
working with young people. Engagement was currently taking place with universities 
and it was agreed to circulate to Panel members the report of Leicester University’s 
research into hate crime. In the future engagement was planned to take place with 
institutions for much younger people. The Hate Crime Perpetrator Programme 
would play an important role in tackling Hate Crime without taking the offenders to 
Court. 

 
(ii) Concern was raised by Panel members that the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) 

were not always effective in prosecuting hate crime, and the PCC was asked if he 
could take any action in this regard. The PCC explained that whilst he was the Chair 
of the East Midlands Regional Criminal Justice Board where matters like this were 
considered, ultimately decisions on prosecuting Hate Crime were the responsibility 

6



 
 

 

of the CPS. It was suggested that the Panel could write to the CPS outlining its 
concerns. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the contents of the report be noted: 
 
(b) That a letter be sent to the Crown Prosecution Service on behalf of the Police and 

Crime Panel raising concerns about the lack of prosecutions for hate crime. 
 

30. Recruitment and retention in Leicestershire Police with particular regard to improving 
diversity and the BAME community.  
 
The Police and Crime Panel considered a report of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
which provided an update on recruitment and retention of police officers in Leicestershire 
Police and actions being taken to improve the diversity of the Force. A copy of the report, 
marked ‘Agenda Item 8’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
For this item the Panel welcomed to the meeting Lynne Woodward, Head of Equality and 
Human Rights, Leicestershire Police. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were made: 
 
(i) The Panel commended Leicestershire Police for its positive work aimed at 

improving the diversity of the Leicestershire Police workforce, though one member 
was of the view that further engagement work with minority communities needed to 
be carried out. In response reassurance was given that in addition to the measures 
outlined in the report Positive Action Officers had been involved in outreach projects 
including engaging with students in Leicester and Leicestershire and places of 
worship. 
 

(ii) In response to a question about the diversity of the staff in Leicestershire Police that 
acted as mentors to applicants during the recruitment process it was clarified that 
these people volunteered to be mentors and it was preferable that they were fully 
committed and enthusiastic rather than being cajoled into acting as mentors. 
Therefore it was not planned to take any action to improve the diversity of the 
mentors. However, there were groups such as the Black Support Network and the 
Hindu Support Network which provided support to people of BAME origin.  

 
(iii) PCSO’s were able to apply to be Police Officers under the recruitment scheme and 

a large amount of the intake from campaign 1 were PCSOs. As PCSOs had already 
been vetted then this shortened the timescales for them to start working as police 
officers. However, the consequences of recruiting PCSOs as Police Officers was 
that further recruitment was required to take place to replace the PCSOs. 

 
(iv) Although removing the Competency Based Questionnaire for Campaign 3 and 

replacing it with a telephone interview had increased the number of applicants from 
minority backgrounds, it had also elongated the recruitment process timescales and 
the applicants from Campaign 3 had not yet undertaken the SEARCH Assessment 
Centre part of the process. 

 
(v) Leicestershire Police was introducing a Police Constable Degree Apprenticeship 

scheme where successful applicants would be able to perform the role of Police 

7



 
 

 

Constable whilst attaining a degree in Professional Policing Practice funded by the 
Police. So far 100 people had registered an interest of which 25% were from BAME 
backgrounds and 20% were female though it was yet to be seen which of these 
people made it to the end of the process. The Chairman raised concerns that those 
people who had their degree paid for by the Police would be able to leave the Force 
at any point after they had obtained the degree and in response it was confirmed 
that there was no contract tying them to being employed by the Police for a certain 
number of years therefore they would be able to leave at any point. It was clarified 
that in future applicants would not be eligible to become police officers unless they 
had obtained a degree qualification and the Chairman raised concerns that this 
could mean that people who did not have academic skills, but had the skills to be a 
police officer, would be prevented from joining the Police. The PCC explained that 
the initiative was being nationally driven, and he stated that he shared the 
Chairman’s concerns and had written to Ron Hogg, Durham PCC and Lead of the 
APCC Portfolio Group on the Workforce asking for further consideration to be given 
to the issue. A copy of the PCC’s letter dated 5 September 2018 is filed with these 
minutes. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the contents of the report be noted; 
 
(b) That a further report on recruitment and diversity in Leicestershire Police be brought 

to a future meeting of the Panel once the full results of the latest recruitment 
campaign are known. 

 
Cllr. Michael Rickman in the chair. 

 
31. Youth Commission.  

 
The Police and Crime Panel considered a report of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
which provided an update on the progress of the Youth Commission. A copy of the 
report, marked ‘Agenda Item 9’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Panel welcomed Brahmpreet Gulati, Youth Commissioner, to the meeting for this 
item. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) The age range of Youth Commissioners was 14-25 and for future recruitment 

campaigns consideration would be given to whether this was the most appropriate 
age range. It was not felt that 14 was too young as children of that age had been 
known to commit varying types of crimes. 

 
(ii) The current makeup of the Youth Commission included a person who had been a 

victim to a crime, a person who had been a witness to a crime and students of 
criminology and psychology. However, none of the current members had committed 
crimes themselves and work was ongoing so that in future the membership would 
include past offenders. 

 
(iii) There were links between the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Youth Commission 

and the Leicester City Council Youth Commission and work was ongoing to 
strengthen those links. 

8



 
 

 

 
(iv) In response to a request for examples of how the work of the Youth Commission 

impacted on policing it was explained that Leicestershire Police ran a course on 
mental health first aid for young people and the course content had been altered as 
a result of Youth Commission input. In addition the Youth Commission had worked 
with the Force’s knife crime coordinator regarding disseminating messages to 
young people about stop and search. The Youth Commission had also had 
meetings with the Force Head of Engagement to advise on how to best 
communicate with young people generally. A member of the Youth Commission had 
also been involved with producing a video for the Crimestoppers Fearless 
campaign. 

 
(v) A Youth Summit was taking place on Tuesday 6 November 2018, 80 people had 

confirmed attendance and all Police and Crime Panel members were invited. 
 
(vi) The Panel commended the work of the Youth Commission and emphasised that it 

was important to listen to young people. The Panel invited Youth Commission 
members to attend Community Safety Partnership meetings and Community Ward 
meetings. The OPCC welcomed these invitations though advised that many Youth 
Commission members were studying or in work and may not be able to attend 
every meeting they were invited to. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

32. Dates of future meetings.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That future meetings of the Panel take place on the following dates:  
 
Wednesday 12 December 2018 at 1:00pm at County Hall; 
Friday 1 February 2019 at 10:00am at County Hall; 
Thursday 21 February 2019 at 1:00pm at County Hall (meeting will only take place if 
Precept is vetoed); 
Monday 18 March 2019 at 1:00pm at City Hall; 
Monday 20 May 2019 at 2:00pm at County Hall; 
Monday 22 July 2019 at 2:00pm at City Hall; 
Tuesday 24 September 2019 at 2:00pm at County Hall; 
Wednesday 11 December 2019 at 1:00pm at County Hall. 
 
 
 

1.00  - 3.40 pm CHAIRMAN 
03 October 2018 

 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL – 12 DECEMBER 2018 

 
DEPUTY PCC UPDATE  

 
REPORT OF THE SECRETARIAT 

 
Purpose of this Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update the Panel on the work of the Deputy 

Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) Kirk Master and in particular provide 
reassurance to the Panel on areas of concern identified by the Panel at the 
Confirmation Hearing for the Deputy PCC in 2016. 
 

Background  
 
2. At the Confirmatory Hearing on 23 September 2016 the Police and Crime Panel 

supported the appointment of Kirk Master as Deputy Police and Crime 
Commissioner. The Panel did however raise some concerns around the 
potential conflict of interest represented by Kirk Master’s continued role as 
Assistant Mayor at Leicester City Council and his capacity to balance both of 
these roles and carry out the role of Deputy PCC to the best of his ability. 

 
3. The Panel also had concerns that given Kirk Master’s historically City-focused 

background whether he would place sufficient emphasis on the County and 
Rutland in carrying out his role as Deputy PCC. In response Kirk Master 
provided reassurances that he intended to increase his presence in the County 
and Rutland, and would demonstrate that he was able to take on board the 
concerns of County and Rutland residents and use that feedback to influence 
decision making going forward. 

 
4. In order to monitor the performance of the Deputy PCC the Police and Crime 

Panel requested that the Deputy PCC provide updates to the Panel with 
regards to his work on a bi-annual basis. Updates were provided at the Panel 
meetings on 29 March 2017, 5 December 2017 and 8 June 2018.  

 
December 2018 update 
 
5. The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner were asked to provide a 

written update for the Panel meeting on 12 December 2018 but at the time of 
going to print no information has been provided. It is hoped that details will be 
provided at the Panel meeting on 12 December and the Deputy PCC will be 
available to answer the questions of Panel Members. 

 
 
Officer to Contact: 
Euan Walters, Democratic Services, Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 6016 
Email: euan.walters@leics.gov.uk  
 

11 Agenda Item 5

mailto:euan.walters@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL – 12 DECEMBER 2018 

 
QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE REPORT 1 JULY 2018 to30 

SEPTEMBER 2018  
 

REPORT OF THE SECRETARIAT 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide Members with a summary of 

performance relating to crime and Leicestershire Police for the period 1 July 
2018 to 30 September 2018.  
 

Background  
 
2. The Panel receives regular Performance reports relating to crime statistics in 

the Force area to enable the Panel to judge how Leicestershire Police is 
performing and in particular how the PCC is progressing with the priority areas 
identified in his Police and Crime Plan. The Performance reports usually focus 
on areas such as Total Crime, Violence against the person (without injury), 
Violence against the person (with injury), Rape, Hate Crime, Robbery, Burglary, 
Theft from Motor Vehicle and Anti-Social Behaviour. 
 

Performance Figures 
 
3. Up to date performance information was requested from the Office of the Police 

and Crime Commissioner however at the time of printing the agenda pack no 
details had been received. It is hoped that a detailed report will be circulated to 
Panel members prior to the meeting on 12 December. 

 
Officer to Contact: 
Euan Walters, Democratic Services, Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 6016 
Email: euan.walters@leics.gov.uk  
 

13 Agenda Item 6

mailto:euan.walters@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL – 12 DECEMBER 2018 

 
DRUGS AND ALCOHOL  

 
REPORT OF THE SECRETARIAT 

 
Purpose of this Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update Members on progress the Police and 

Crime Commissioner (PCC) has made with tackling the effects of alcohol and 
drugs on local communities.  
 

Background  
 
2. In his Police and Crime Plan 2017-2021 the PCC sets out the following 

intention:  
 

“During my term in office I will continue to support work that addresses the 
harmful effects of alcohol and drugs on local communities, specifically: 
 
• A new service provider for LLR to tackle the problem of drugs and alcohol. 
The provider has been actively setting up its services, establishing its 
operational centres and recruiting staff. During the next phase of delivery I will 
continue to work with partners to ensure effective delivery of services. 

 
• I will continue to support all the work of the alcohol Harm Reduction group. 
This will specifically include giving consideration to the effects of alcohol on 
young people and work which incorporates a mixture of education, 
enforcement, community engagement and provision of diversionary activities 
for young people. 

 
•I will focus on measures to reduce harm from the Night Time Economy and will 
support treatment services and other partners in continuing to support the 
Police licensing team to seek licence reviews of problematic licenced premises. 

 
• The multiagency approach to managing street drinking, substance misuse 
and substance misuse related begging should be continued. Where areas are 
identified where activities are taking place that are or may likely be detrimental 
to the local community’s qualify of life I will support the use of Public Space 
Protection Orders under the Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 
2014.” 

 
Progress to date 

 
3. Up to date information was requested from the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner with regard to progress with tackling the effects of alcohol and 
drugs in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland however at the time of printing 
the agenda pack no details had been received. It is hoped that a detailed report 
will be circulated to Panel members prior to the meeting on 12 December. 

 

15 Agenda Item 7



Officer to Contact: 
Euan Walters, Democratic Services, Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 6016 
Email: euan.walters@leics.gov.uk  
 

16

mailto:euan.walters@leics.gov.uk


LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL – 12 DECEMBER 2018 

 
POLICE COMPLAINTS SYSTEM REFORMS  

 
REPORT OF THE SECRETARIAT 

 
Purpose of this Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update Members on the changes to the 

procedures for handling complaints against the Police as introduced by the 
Policing and Crime Act 2017, and how the Leicestershire PCC intends to 
implement the changes within Leicestershire Police.  

 
Background  
 
2. In 2014 the Government announced a review of the entire police complaints 

system, including the role, powers and funding of the then Independent Police 
Complaints Commission and the local role played by Police and Crime 
Commissioners. The review found that elements of the police complaints 
system did not work efficiently or effectively and had not kept pace with other 
reforms to the policing landscape, in particular the introduction of PCCs. The 
Government identified a need to expand the role of PCCs within the police 
complaints system. 

 
3. The Policing and Crime Act 2017 reformed the police complaints and 

disciplinary systems. 
 
Key provisions of the Policing and Crime Act 2017  
 
4. The key provisions of the Act are as follows: 

 

 Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) to have explicit responsibility for 
holding Chief Officers to account for the way in which complaints are dealt 
with by the force;  

 All complaints will have to be recorded (provided the complainant wants that 
to happen);  

 Appeals will be replaced by a new system of reviews, intended to be simpler 
than the current system;  

 Police and Crime Commissioners will be the review body for reviews/appeals 
currently heard by chief officers. The transfer of responsibility for the appellate 
function from the Chief Constable to the Police and Crime Commissioner is 
likely to take place from 1 April 2019, though this may slip due to pressures on 
drafting and parliamentary time. 

 PCCs will have the option of also taking on the responsibility for receiving 
complaints;  

 If they take that option, they will also be able to choose to take on 
responsibility for keeping the complainant informed;  

 The definition of a complaint will be clarified;  

17 Agenda Item 8



 The Independent Office for Police Conduct (formerly the Independent Police 
Complaints Commission) will be able to initiate investigations rather than 
waiting for forces to refer complaints to them;  

 There will be a new system of "super-complaints" so that certain designated 
bodies (such as charities or advocacy groups) could complain to about trends 
or patterns in policing which seem to be significantly harming the public 
interest.  

 
Options available to PCCs 
 
5. The options available to PCCs for their involvement in complaints are as 

follows: 
 

Mandatory Model 1 – PCCs take on responsibility for reviewing complaints 
which are currently heard internally by police Forces. 

 
Optional model 2 – Initial complaints handling (receiving and recording) taken 
on by PCCs. 

 
Optional model 3 – Initial complaints handling and maintaining contact with the 
complainant throughout the process taken on by PCCs. 

 
Implementation of the reforms by Leicestershire Police 

 
6. Up to date information was requested from the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner with regard to how the Leicestershire PCC intends the process 
for complaints against the Police to work in future however at the time of 
printing the agenda pack no details had been received. It is hoped that a 
detailed report will be circulated to Panel members prior to the meeting on 12 
December. 

 
 

Officer to Contact: 
Euan Walters, Democratic Services, Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 6016 
Email: euan.walters@leics.gov.uk  
 

18

mailto:euan.walters@leics.gov.uk


LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL – 12 DECEMBER 2018 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE – 

LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

ANNUAL REPORT ON COMPLAINTS AGAINST THE POLICE AND 
CRIME COMMISSIONER 

 
 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. The report is intended to provide the Police and Crime Panel with an update on 

complaints relating to the Police and Crime Commissioner over the last 12 
months. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. At its meeting on 20th December 2012, the Panel delegated authority to the 

County Solicitor (now the Director of Law and Governance) to:- 
 
 (a) act as the first point of contact for complaints. 
 
 (b) make decisions in consultation with the Chairman of the Panel as to 

whether - 
 

 a complaint has been made which requires resolution under the 
complaints procedure; 

 

 that complaint should be referred to the Independent Police 
Complaints Commission; 

 

 the complaint should be subject to the informal resolution process. 
 

 (c) make arrangements for the process of informal resolution 
 
 (d) in consultation with the Chairman and Vice Chairman, to resolve 

complaints informally or to arrange for a meeting of the Sub-Committee of 
the Panel to resolve complaints informally. 

 
Background 
 
3. The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 and the Elected Local 

Policing Bodies (Complaints and Misconduct) Regulations 2012 set out certain 
responsibilities on the Police and Crime Panel to deal with complaints against 
the PCC and conduct matters.   

 

19 Agenda Item 9



4. The Regulations require the Panel to make suitable arrangements for receiving 
and recording complaints, for the initial sorting of complaints to determine 
whether they appear to have criminal elements which would require referral to 
the Independent Office for Police Conduct (formerly the Independent Police 
Complaints Commission) and to informally resolve complaints that do not have 
a criminal element.  Informal resolution is intended to represent a locally agreed 
process involving engagement with the complainant and the person complained 
against.  It does not permit an investigation of the complaint and the Panel is 
prohibited from taking any action intended to gather further information other 
than inviting comments from the complainant and PCC. 

 
5. The Panel’s Monitoring Officer is reviewing the current complaints process and 

guidance documentation, and will be bringing a report regarding any proposed 
changes to a future Police and Crime Panel meeting.   

 
Complaints against the PCC received in 2018 
 
6. There have been no complaints about the PCC during this period. There has 

been correspondence from three separate complainants but on examination it 
has become clear the complaints relate to operational policing matters and 
accordingly the complainants have been directed to the police complaints 
procedure as the appropriate method to pursue the issues raised.  

 
Recommendations 
 
7. The Panel is asked to:- 
 
a. Note the contents of this report. 
 
.  
Officer to Contact: 
 
Lauren Haslam, Director of Law and Governance 
Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 6240 
Email: Lauren.Haslam@leics.gov.uk 

 
 

20



LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL – 12 DECEMBER 2018 

 
THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF POLICE, FIRE AND CRIME 

PANELS  
 

REPORT OF THE SECRETARIAT 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update Members on the development of the 

Special Interest Group (SIG) entitled ‘The National Association of Police, Fire 
and Crime Panels’ and particularly the Home Office decision on whether the 
Home Office Grant can be used for the subscription fee.  
 

Background  
 
2. Since the establishment of Police and Crime Panels, concerns have been 

raised that unlike Police and Crime Commissioners who have established a 
National Association, the effectiveness and development of Police and Crime 
Panels has been restricted by the lack of a collective voice through which 
representation to Government and the sharing of best practice can be 
channelled.  
 

3. It is open to any 10 or more full Local Government Association Members with 
common features, interests or concerns to form a SIG subject to approval of an 
application by the LGA’s leadership Board. SIG’s are able to make 
representations direct to government and elsewhere on matters arising directly 
from their special interest. All SIGs are required to submit a full report at the 
end of April each year to the Leadership Board, covering such matters as their 
dealings with Government departments. 

 
4. On 19 April 2018 a Steering Group meeting was held at the Local Government 

Association offices in Westminster attended by representatives of 21 different 
Police and Crime Panels.  A decision was made to form a Special Interest 
Group entitled ‘The National Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels’ and 
Terms of Reference were drafted (paragraph 8 below). It was agreed that 
membership of the SIG would be restricted to those Panels as constituted 
under Schedule 6 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
including those that have subsequently taken on fire service matters as part of 
their remit. Mr John Gili-Ross, independent member of the Essex Police, Fire 
and Crime Panel, was elected as interim Chairman of the SIG until the Annual 
General Meeting in November 2018. Alison Lowe (West Yorkshire PCP) and 
John Adams (Dorset PCP) were elected as Deputy Chairmen. The subscription 
fee for Panels to join the Special Interest Group was set at £500 per annum. 
During the Steering Group meeting it was queried whether the subscription fee 
could be paid out of the Home Office Grant or whether Panels would have to 
find an alternative funding source to pay the subscription if they wished to join. 
It was agreed that written confirmation from the Home Office would be sought 
on this point. 
 

21 Agenda Item 10



5. At its meeting on 8 June 2018 the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police 
and Crime Panel deferred making a decision on whether the Panel should join 
The National Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels, in order to allow the 
Home Office time to provide clarification on what the Home Office Grant can be 
used for.  

 
Recent developments 

 
6. On 15 October 2018 the Home Office provided written confirmation that the use 

of the Home Office Grant to pay subscription to the National Association was 
not within the scope of the Grant (Appendix A). 

 
7. On 5 November 2018 the Chairman of the National Association of Police, Fire 

and Crime Panels wrote to Police and Crime Panel Chairmen asking them to 
write to the Policing Minister Nick Hurd requesting a change to the current 
Home Office grant conditions to allow greater flexibility in the use of the grant 
for Police and Crime Panel related purposes. (Appendix B). 

 
8. On 12 November 2018 the Annual General Meeting for the National 

Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels was held. It was reported that 26 
Panels had so far joined the Association. At the AGM the existing Chairman 
and Deputy Chairman were re-appointed for a further year along with an 
Executive Committee. All meetings of the Executive Committee had so far 
taken place via teleconferencing and it was proposed to continue this approach 
in future. A constitution for the National Association was also approved at the 
AGM. During the AGM it was explained that a focus of the National Association 
would be revision of the guidance documents for Police and Crime Panels and 
development of a website for the Association, with a public area and a 
members’ area, which would cost approximately £700 and be funded out of 
subscription fees.  

 
 
National Association Terms of Reference 
 
9. The agreed Terms of Reference for the Special Interest Group are as follows:  
 

 To provide a forum for collaborative discussion of issues relating to and 

impacting on Police and Crime Panels (PCPs); 

 To share ideas and experience in response to the expanding role of PCCs 

and thereby PCPs; 

 To create a mechanism for direct liaison between PCPs and the Home 

Office; 

 To provide an opportunity for dialogue with relevant bodies such as the 

Association of Police and Crime Commissioners, Association of Police 

and Crime Chief Executives and others; 

 To support the development of joint PCP responses to relevant 

consultations; 

 To promote professional standards; 

22



 To share good practice and create guidance and other supporting 

materials for PCPs; 

 To ensure stability and collective memory in a landscape where PCPs can 

have significant changes in membership; 

 To provide capacity for horizon scanning across all PCPs; 

 To promote better understanding of the role of PCPs. 

 

Options for the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel 
 

10. In light of the recent developments, particularly with regards to the Home Office 
Grant, the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel has a 
decision to make with regards to membership of the National Association of 
Police, Fire and Crime Panels. The possible options for the Panel are as 
follows: 

 
(a) Write to the Policing Minister Nick Hurd requesting a change to the current 

Home Office grant conditions, (as per the request from the Chairman of 
the National Association for Police, Fire and Crime Panels), and defer  
joining the National Association until the Home Office Grant conditions 
have been changed to allow the Grant to be used for the subscription fee. 

 
(b) Agree to join the National Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels on 

the basis that each authority that has representation on the Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel contributes £50 
towards the annual subscription for the National Association. 

 
(c) Have no further involvement with the National Association of Police, Fire 

and Crime Panels, until the Panel resolves otherwise. 
 

 
Officer to Contact: 
Euan Walters, Democratic Services, Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 6016 
Email: euan.walters@leics.gov.uk  
 

23

mailto:euan.walters@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



25

EWalters
Text Box
APPENDIX A



26



 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

National Association of Police, Fire & Crime Panels 
Essex Police Fire and Crime Panel 

Essex County Council 
Chelmsford 

Essex 

5th November 2018 

Dear Police & Crime Panel Chairman, 

I am seeking your support to assist the National Association of Police, Fire and Crime 
Panels provide value added services to all PCP’s in the years ahead.  Before detailing 
the form of this support I believe it appropriate to provide a background reminder of 
the current situation. 

You will be aware from past communication that the majority of Police and Crime 
Panels in England and Wales are in favour of forming a national association to promote 
public awareness of the panels role, provide continual sector development through 
training, networking and the development of best practice based on how different 
panels carry out effective scrutiny of their respective PCC’s.  Much of the panel 
documentation created by the Home Office prior to the introduction of Police & Crime 
Panels is now aged and in need of refresh away from a position required at the creation 
of new panels and more towards how panel members can more effectively undertake 
the role to which they have been appointed. 

At the inaugural meeting of the NAPFCP last April, PCP representatives identified and 
agreed the NAPFCP Terms of Reference a copy of which is included as Appendix A. 

An Executive Board consisting of volunteers from panel members across of England and 
Wales was formed to make decisions on the day-to-day affairs of the NAPFCP. The 
Executive Board will meet as required, mostly via audio conference to keep 
administration costs to a minimum.  Since its formation the Executive Board has met 
three times to agree the outline terms of a constitution document, the setting up of a 
NAPFCP web presence and to make an in principle decision to part fund a refresh of 
documentation specific to all PCP’s.  The purpose of a NAPFCP web presence is to 
provide members with a data library for sharing good practice, case studies and 
reference material and linkages together with a public facing home page to provide a 
Panels perspective of its role and linkage between the Police & Crime Commissioner, 
the Home Office and the LGA. 

As the Home Office grant is the only source of funding available to PCP’s, a small 
number of panels requested confirmation that a NAPFCP annual subscription (£500) 
could be met through the HO grant.  Dr Christopher Kemp (Norfolk PCP and Executive 
Board Member) provided a legal opinion based upon his reading of relevant documents, 
which was passed to the Home Office for comment last July.  A Home Office response 
(Appendix A) has now been received, which refers to salient parts of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibilities Act 2011 and states the purpose of the HO funding is for the 
maintenance of a panel to carry out its functions and responsibilities under the ACT 
and responsibilities of a panel are focussed on scrutiny of the relevant PCC and do not 
extend out of the police area of the PCC. 

27



 

 

 

Whilst this HO opinion does not prevent the formation of the NAPFCP, it presents an 
unwelcome constraint in respect of if or how some of the NAPFCP agreed terms of 
reference can be delivered.  For example, the design and set up of a NAPFCP web 
presence was planned to be awarded to a contractor at a one off cost of £700, with on 
going document production and web site maintenance being completed by Executive 
Board members on a voluntary basis.  The restrictive HO grant wording prevents 
expenditure of this nature to be funded by the HO grant.  

The Executive Board believes the restrictive wording of the 2011 Act, written prior to 
the formation of the current Police & Crime Panels, should be relaxed in order for 
PCP’s to make the best use of their HO grant.  Such a relaxation would engender good 
practice and professional development in a low cost and effective manner, whilst still 
discharging PCP’s statutory responsibilities. 

May I respectfully request that your PCP demonstrates its support by writing to the 
Policing Minister – Nick Hurd and copying the Home - Secretary Sajid Javid, requesting 
a change to the current HO grant conditions that allows PCP’s greater flexibility in 
the use of the grant for PCP related purposes, which may be outside of their 
respective policing area.  It would also be most helpful if when contacting the Policing 
Minister you also request the support of your local MP’s.  I am taking the liberty of 
including a copy of a letter from the Essex PFCP to the Policing Minister that may assist 
you when compiling a supporting letter.  

It would be most helpful if you would let me know if you write to the Policing Minister 
so that I can record the strength of support for an appropriately funded NAPFCP.  I 
hope to meet with many of you at the Frontline Consulting annual conference in 
Warwick on 12th November 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

John Gili-Ross 

National Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels 

07957804621 

 

28


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 October 2018.
	5 Deputy PCC Update.
	6 Performance Update - Quarter 2.
	7 Alcohol and Drugs.
	8 Complaints against Police Officers - new procedures.
	9 Complaints against the Police and Crime Commissioner.
	10 National Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels.
	Home Office Response - Use of Grant
	Home Office Grant and the NAPFCP Nov 2018




